**DROP BOX**

IN THE  
DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL  
FIFTH DISTRICT  
STATE OF FLORIDA

**FILED**  
JUN 13 1997  
DGT 22 307

CLERK SUPERIOR COURT  
BY \_\_\_\_\_  
Chief Deputy Clerk

91,642

GUS BECKSTROM,

Appellant,

v.

Case Number: 97-617

VOLUSIA COUNTY  
CANVASSING BOARD and  
ROBERT L. VOGEL, JR.,

Appellees.

ON APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER  
OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF FLORIDA, SEVENTH CIRCUIT

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

WEIDNER & WORTELBOER  
DONALD W. WEIDNER, ESQUIRE  
10161 Centurion Parkway North  
Suite 190  
Jacksonville, Florida 32256  
(904) 641-0004

Jeanine  
H.  
Coris

**FILED**  
JUN 13 1997  
THOMAS J. HAMILTON  
CLERK, 5th DISTRICT COURT OF FLORIDA

**RECORDED**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal of a final order of the Circuit Court of Florida, Seventh Circuit, Judge John V. Doyle, Case Numbers 96-11098-CIDL-01 and 96-11105-CIDL-01, dismissing an election protest and entering judgment in favor of the defendants in an election contest.

On November 8, 1996, Appellant Gus Beckstrom filed a protest of election returns pursuant to Section 102.166(11), Florida Statutes to the Circuit Judge of the Seventh Circuit Court challenging as fraudulent the returns of the November 5, 1996 Volusia County Sheriff's race. (R-92). On November 12, 1996, Mr. Beckstrom filed an Amended Protest along with a complaint for an election contest under Section 102.168, Florida Statutes alleging that the returns of the November 5, 1996 Sheriff's race were fraudulent and that the procedures followed by the Supervisor of Elections in the handling and processing of absentee ballots cast in that election involved fraud, gross negligence, or intentional wrongdoing. (R-98).

On December 18, 1996, Mr. Beckstrom filed a Second Amended Protest of Election Returns to Circuit Judge and Amended Complaint. That document became the pleading on which the case was ultimately tried. (R-123). The protest action and election contest were consolidated on January 15, 1997. (R-165). After three months of discovery including the parties' inspection of, and the Clerk of Court's manual recount of, approximately 27,000 absentee ballots as well as the review of the same number of

absentee ballot mailing envelopes and various other election materials, the cases culminated in an eight-day bench trial which ended on February 12, 1997. After announcing detailed factual findings and legal conclusions from the bench, the court dismissed the protest action and ruled in favor of the defendants on the election contest action. (R-712). The court's written opinion was issued on March 4, 1997, and Mr. Beckstrom's notice of appeal was timely filed on March 12, 1997. (R-712,728).

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Gus Beckstrom ran for office in the November 5, 1996 election for Sheriff of Volusia County. Robert L. Vogel, Jr. ran as the incumbent in that race. After the precinct votes were counted, Mr. Beckstrom was ahead by 4,057 votes. (R-368-371 (Pl. Ex. 6); R-326-344). Once the absentee ballots were included in the tally, however, Mr. Beckstrom slipped behind by 819 votes. (Id.). In other words, out of 130,853 precinct votes, Mr. Beckstrom was ahead by 4,057, and out of 25,048 absentee votes, Mr. Beckstrom was behind by 4,876. (Id.) After all the votes were tallied, the Volusia County Canvassing Board declared Vogel the winner of the election by 819 votes. (R-326-344). Upon information and belief, Mr. Beckstrom promptly filed a protest action and election contest challenging the returns of the election and the absentee ballot process as involving fraud, gross negligence, or intentional wrongdoing. (R-92, 98, 159).

In his Second Amended Protest of Election Returns to Circuit Judge and Amended Complaint, Mr. Beckstrom alleged that the election involved a substantial failure to comply with essential requirements of the absentee voting law, as follows (R-159):

A. Absentee ballots were tampered with and modified in violation of Section 101.5614(5), Florida Statutes. At least 6,548 absentee ballots contain votes that were marked over with a black felt tip pen or permanent marker. Approximately 1,276 additional ballots were marked with a similar marker, but it is

impossible to tell whether they were marked over or newly voted. Election officials have stated that the marking over was the result of a procedure employed by the Elections Office to permit electronic tabulating machines to "read" ballots which had been rejected by the machines because the original votes on those ballots had been marked too lightly or with other than a #2 lead pencil. Those ballots, having been rejected by the machines, were neither duplicated nor manually counted in accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 101.5614(5). Further, on many of those ballots, only some of the original votes were marked over with a black pen or marker; other votes were left unretouched. There are, in addition, numerous ballots containing original votes that were not marked over, yet the votes are too light to have been read by the machines.

B. Absentee ballots were left unattended and accessible at the office of the Supervisor of Elections, in violation of Section 102.141(5), Florida Statutes.

C. Absentee ballots were opened by various persons outside the presence of any member of the Canvassing Board, in violation of Section 102.141(5), Florida Statutes.

D. Sheriff's deputies had access to and

participated in the opening of absentee ballots in violation of Section 102.141(5), Florida Statutes.

E. Individuals who were not employees of the Supervisor of Elections participated in the opening of absentee ballots in violation of Section 102.141(5), Florida Statutes.

F. The doors of the Supervisor of Elections Office were locked and not open to the public at all times when absentee ballots were being opened, in violation of Section 102.141(2), Florida Statutes.

G. Election officials began processing absentee ballots through electronic tabulating equipment at least four days prior to the election, in violation of Section 101.68(2)(a), Florida Statutes.

H. Prior to opening absentee ballot mailing envelopes, election officials failed to compare the signature of the voter on each voter's certificate with the signature of the voter as shown in the registration records, in violation of Section 101.68, Florida Statutes.

I. Election officials accepted and counted at least 915 and possibly as many as 1,463 illegal absentee ballots in violation of Section 101.68(c), Florida Statutes. Those ballots are illegal because the voter's certificates accompanying the ballots lack either (1) the voter's signature, as compared to the



signature on file in the registration records, (2) the signature of one witness, or (3) the address of the witness.

J. Election officials failed to count all of the absentee ballots received and accepted, and a number of ballots remain unaccounted for, in violation of Section 101.68(3), Florida Statutes.

K. Election officials failed to properly preserve all absentee ballots from which duplicates were made, and a number of duplicated ballots remain unaccounted for, in violation of Section 101.5614(5), Florida Statutes.

L. Election officials failed to properly preserve all absentee ballot mailing envelopes, and at least twenty-two such envelopes remain unaccounted for, in violation of Section 101.68, Florida Statutes.

M. Several voters who had requested absentee ballots but who had not received them in time for the election were denied the right to vote in person, in violation of Section 101.69, Florida Statutes.

Each of the above acts constitutes a departure from the essential requirements of the absentee voting law and demonstrates that the election was not conducted in substantial compliance with the requirements of the law. Moreover, each raises significant concerns regarding the sanctity of the

ballot process and the integrity of the election.

Mr. Beckstrom additionally alleged that the absentee ballot tabulation process was tainted with potential fraud, as follows (R-159):

A. Of the absentee ballots containing votes that are marked over with a black felt tip pen or marker, many ballots contain markings over some, but not all, of the original votes. Of the ballots containing an original vote in the Sheriff's race and in which the vote for Sheriff is not marked over but other votes on the ballot are so marked, approximately twenty-five contain a Beckstrom vote. Only one similarly marked ballot contains a vote for Vogel.

B. Of the absentee ballots containing votes that are marked over with a black felt tip pen or marker, at least fifteen contain a vote in the Sheriff's race that is marked over, whereas no other vote on the ballot is so marked. Each of the fifteen ballots contains a vote for Vogel. No similarly marked ballot containing a vote for Beckstrom has been discovered.

C. At least five ballots contain a vote for President and a vote for Sheriff, but no vote in any other race. Those ballots appear to be originally marked with a black felt tip pen or marker. Each ballot contains a vote for Vogel. No similarly marked

ballot containing a vote for Beckstrom has been discovered.

D. Two pairs of ballots, tabulated sequentially, match each other perfectly by vote, ink and penmanship. Each of those ballots contains a vote in the Sheriff's race for Vogel.

Finally, Mr. Beckstrom alleged that absentee ballots were changed and/or misplaced, lost, or otherwise not counted as a result of fraud, gross negligence, or intentional wrongdoing. (R-159). Mr. Beckstrom prayed that the court invalidate all or a portion of the absentee ballots and declare Mr. Beckstrom the winner of the election based on a tabulation of the remaining votes. (Id.).

Shortly after the litigation commenced, the court granted Mr. Beckstrom's motion for a court-supervised inspection of the absentee ballots. (R-102). Inspections were held on several different days during November and December 1996 and January 1997, during which time the parties were permitted to review approximately 27,000 absentee ballots along with the same number of absentee ballot mailing envelopes and various other materials related to the election. The inspections uncovered evidence supporting many of the allegations identified in the Amended Complaint, including the fact that elections personnel marked over votes on at least 6,497 ballots with a black felt-tip pen or magic marker when the automatic tabulating equipment was unable to read the ballot, and that on many of the ballots the remarking

did not accurately reflect the voter's original votes (R-372(Pl. Ex. 7); R-723). Additionally, the Clerk of Court conducted a manual recount of the votes on the absentee ballots which recount showed that over 1,000 votes in the Sheriff's race were not originally accounted for. (R-372(Pl. Ex. 7)).

During the eight-day bench trial, over 45 witnesses testified and over 55 exhibits were admitted, including all of the absentee ballots. The witnesses included all of the members of the Canvassing Board, numerous individuals who had participated in the handling of absentee ballots, several individual voters, and three statistical experts. There was evidence that at least two of the witnesses who testified that they witnessed or heard about wrongdoing in the processing of absentee ballots received threatening letters shortly after testifying. (R-556, 557).

On March 4, 1997, the court issued a written opinion in which it found that the Supervisor of Elections had violated the following absentee voter statutes: Section 101.68(2)(c)1, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1996) and Section 101.65, Florida Statutes (1995) by accepting 885 illegal voter certificates (7 certificates did not contain the voter's signature, 72 certificates did not contain a witness signature, 88 certificates either contained no witness address or contained an incomplete witness address, 308 certificates were apparently witnessed by Supervisor of Elections' staff but did not contain a witness address, and 410 certificates were apparently

witnessed by a notary public but did not contain a witness address); Section 102.141(5), Florida Statutes (1995) (there were various times during which no member of the Canvassing Board was present to supervise the processing of absentee ballots); Section 101.68(2)(a), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1996) (elections personnel began processing absentee ballots through the automatic tabulating equipment at least four days prior to election day); Section 102.141(2), Florida Statutes (1995) (the processing of absentee ballots took place in a building which at various times was locked and inaccessible to the public); Section 101.5614(5), Florida Statutes (1995) (elections personnel marked over votes which could not be detected by the automatic tabulating equipment in lieu of manually counting them; Section 101.69, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1996) (elections personnel failed to permit voters who had requested absentee ballots and who subsequently showed up at the polls to vote to execute affidavits stating that they had not voted absentee, and instead refused to permit such voters to vote when the elections office could not be reached to verify that the voter had not voted absentee; and Section 101.62, Florida Statutes (1995) (elections personnel sent absentee ballots to voters who had not requested them). (R-712-715).

The court specifically found that the process of marking over in lieu of manually counting those votes which could not be detected by the automatic tabulating equipment was a violation of the law that irreparably harmed the sanctity of the absentee ballots and the integrity of the election, and that the

Canvassing Board did not substantially comply with the absentee voting law. (R-715, 720, 724). The court's other findings include the following: There was conclusive evidence that the Supervisor of Elections' returns were wrong, and therefore the Supervisor is not entitled to a presumption of correctness (R-721); the Canvassing Board acted with gross negligence by programming its automatic tabulating equipment to accept any ballot upon which the equipment was able to detect just a single vote, with the result that over 1,000 votes in the Sheriff's race were not originally counted (R-716); the remarking procedure followed by the elections personnel constituted gross negligence (R-720); the statutory violations other than the remarking procedure constituted negligence (R-720); some of the ballots were marked over incorrectly and thus lend themselves to an inference of fraud, but they also lend themselves to an inference of negligence (R-723); there was no evidence of fraud (R-716); in the absence of fraud, courts have no jurisdiction to overturn an election (R-726).

The court ultimately ruled in favor of the defendants on the election contest action based upon its finding that there was no fraud in the election (R-726). Additionally, the court dismissed the election protest with prejudice (R-726). Mr. Beckstrom timely filed a Notice of Appeal to this court on March 12, 1997. (R-728).

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This appeal presents four major issues for review: (1) Whether the trial court erred when it allowed the November 5, 1996 Volusia County Sheriff's election to stand after determining that all of the Boardman factors existed in this case, (2) whether the trial court erred when it concluded that there was no evidence of fraud in the absentee ballot process; (3) whether the trial court erred when it concluded that the Canvassing Board did not violate Section 102.141(3), Florida Statutes (1995) requiring the Canvassing Board to determine that the election returns accurately reflected the number of votes cast; and (4) whether the trial court erred by not invalidating 885 ballots that it found to be illegal because the voter's certificates did not comply with Section 101.68(2)(c)1, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1996).

This case involves violations of the Florida absentee voting law of an unprecedented nature. The most striking violation involves the election department's remarking of 6,497 ballots that could not be read by the automatic tabulating equipment because the voter's marks were too light or were made with a writing instrument other than a #2 lead pencil. As a result of the remarking process, there are a substantial number of ballots on which it is impossible to determine what marks were made by election department staff members and volunteers and what marks, if any, were originally made by the voter. Accordingly, it is impossible to determine who actually won the election. The court properly found that the remarking process was a substantial

violation of the election law which constituted gross negligence on the part of elections officials and which irreparably harmed the sanctity of the ballot and the integrity of the election. Nevertheless, apparently relying on Boardman v. Esteva, 323 So. 2d 259 (Fla. 1975), the trial court refused to throw out the absentee ballots. That ruling was a clear error of law.

The court also erred by concluding that there was no evidence of fraud in this case. There was statistical evidence that the disparity of the results of the Sheriff's race in the remarked ballots as compared to the uncontested ballots could not have occurred randomly but occurred systematically. The statistical experts concluded that the likelihood that such a disparity of results could have occurred randomly is less than one in a million. Additionally, the evidence shows (and the court so found) that numerous ballots were marked incorrectly. For example, there are a number of ballots on which all of the voter's votes except his or her vote for Sheriff are remarked. The result of such a mismarking is that the voter's vote for Sheriff would not be counted by the automatic tabulating equipment. In light of the placement of the Sheriff's race at the top and center of the ballot, the reasonable inference is that the mismarking occurred as a result of fraud rather than negligence.

Next, the trial court erred when it determined that the Canvassing Board did not violate Section 102.141(3), Florida Statutes (1995). In this case, there are disparities between the



number of votes certified by Canvassing Board in its returns to the Secretary of State and the number of votes counted by the Clerk of Court during the court-supervised inspection of the ballots. There is also a disparity between the number of ballots issued and the number of ballots reflected in the certified returns. Further, a number of ballots were "found" by the Canvassing Board subsequent to filing of this lawsuit. Under these circumstances, it is clear that the Canvassing Board did not ensure that its counts were correct and the court erred in determining that it complied with the statute requiring it to do so.

Finally, the trial court erred by not invalidating the 885 ballots that it found to be illegal under Section 101.68(2)(c)1, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1996), which requires, in order for a ballot to be counted, that the voter's certificate contain the signature of the voter, a signature of a witness, and the witness' address. In this case, the court found that 885 certificates did not comply with the statute. The court refused, however, to invalidate the ballots on the grounds that (1) the ballots reflect the will of the people, and (2) Mr. Beckstrom is barred from contesting the ballots because he did not challenge them before they were removed from their envelopes. The first ground is invalid and in clear contravention of the statute. As to the second ground, Mr. Beckstrom should not be barred from contesting the ballots because, due to the Canvassing Board's violation of the statute requiring it to canvass the envelopes

when convened in a meeting to canvass the vote, Mr. Beckstrom had no opportunity to challenge the ballots before they were removed from their envelopes. Therefore, the 885 ballots should be invalidated and the winner of the election determined based on the number of remaining votes.

## ARGUMENT

### INTRODUCTION

The case before this court is unprecedented in Florida history. There have been numerous cases that involved technical violations of Florida's election laws. There have also been cases that involved allegations of outright fraud. But no reported case has ever involved the depth and breadth of election laws violations as does the instant case.

Through seven days of trial the court heard about violations of the election laws: Violations that were not merely technical violations, but violations that cumulatively were so substantial that the court concluded that the violations constituted gross negligence that harmed the sanctity of the ballot and the integrity of the election.

Having made such a finding it seems somewhat incongruous that we are here on an appeal by the challenger of the election. It would seem that having found gross negligence affecting the sanctity of the ballot and the integrity of the election, the trial court would have certainly overturned the election, but it did not. Why? Because the Court concluded that despite the holdings of the Florida Supreme Court in Boardman v Esteve, 323 So. 2d 259 (Fla. 1975) and Bolden v Potter, 452 So. 2d 564 (Fla. 1984) it would not overturn an election without clear proof of fraud.

The fallacy of the court's conclusion is strikingly apparent when its factual finding regarding the marked-over ballots is

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