IN TEE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT, OF TEE STATE OF FLORIDA

Case No. 97-617

)

)

101 399)57

nem european in a

41,642

Appellant,

GUS BECKSTROM,

v.

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The unifying principle of over a century of Florida elections cases is that elections will not be set aside for administrative failures or irregularities when there has been a full and *fair* expression of the people. The trial judge's ruling refusing to invalidate the absentee ballots disenfranchising the voters who cast them is consistent with that doctrine.

The trial judge's finding that there was no fraud should be sustained if there is competent evidence to support an inference otherwise. In this case, the ballots themselves which were methodically examined by the trial judge are such evidence. The clerk's manual recount was also such evidence. The testimony of expert and lay witnesses also furnished an ample basis supporting the court's rejection of an inference of fraud. The court could also have relied upon testimony by elections officials as to the regularity of the process. Each supports a conclusion that the votes marked by the voters were those counted by the clerk.

The trial court appropriately found that the small discrepancy in the number of ballots had been resolved by the **clerk's** manual recount. The trial court also correctly found that section 102.141(3), Florida Statutes, had not been violated.

The trial judge correctly found that Appellant's challenge to voter's certificates for defects alleged on their face was untimely and barred by sections 101.6104 and 101.68(2)(c)2, Florida Statutes (1995). The trial judge could also have rejected Appellant's challenge for lack of jurisdiction *in* that such challenge was not

- 7 -

made within the 10 day period prescribed for election contests by section 102.168, Florida Statutes. Based upon the clerk's manual recount of absentee ballots, the number of challenged certificates are substantially fewer than Appellant's margin of defeat.

ARGUMENT - ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY **REFUSED** TO INVALIDATE **ABSENTEE** BALLOTS **WHERE** IT FOUND THE **ELECTION HAD BEEN** A FULL AND FAIR **EXPRESSION OF** THE PEOPLE.

Appellant seeks an appellate reversal of an adverse electoral decision. His argument is that the court should disenfranchise all those who exercised their absentee ballot privilege because of various irregularities and departures from statutory guidelines by election officials in the handling of their ballots, none of which in the trial court's opinion were sufficient to have affected the ultimate result. The trial court found that there had been no fraud [R.726]. Rejecting Appellant's contention that he should be awarded the office, the trial judge summarized:

> The question gets to be, do we set aside an election when there has been an expression of the will of the people when we have these other difficulties under the Boardman We do have problems. In my view, analysis. the courts have no business interfering with the electoral process in the absence of fraud. I do not have jurisdiction to set this We do have a full and fair election aside. expression of the will of the people. Voqel won it. [R.726]

The trial court's analysis is consistent with over a century of elections law, the unifying principles of which have been that elections are a political process where the voter's interest is primary conducted by executive officials who have authority to determine whether a vote shall be counted. <u>State ex rel.</u> <u>Lilienthal V. Deane</u>, 23 Fla. 121, 1 So. 698 (1887). Where there has been an administrative failure or irregularity, the courts have

- 9 -

looked at its result. If there was a full and free election, the result was sustained. The extreme reluctance of courts to invalidate elections was expressed early by the supreme court in <u>State ex rel. Smith v. Burbridge</u>, 24 Fla. 112, 3 So. 869 (1888), where it declared:

The disposition and the duty of courts are to sustain popular elections whenever they have been free and fair, and it is clear that the voters have not been deprived of their right to vote, and the result has not been changed by irregularity.

<u>Id.</u> at 877.⁷

In <u>Carn v. Moore</u>, 74 Fla. 77, 76 So. 337 (1917), the case involved ballot printing errors so that the places to mark "for" and "against" were reversed on alternate ballots. The supreme court provided what it later described as a "definitive standard" for judging the effect of election **irregularities.**⁸ The words of <u>Carn</u> apply directly to this case:

> It appears that the courts have established no rule which is generally recognized by which it may be definitely determined when a provision

⁷In the present case, the trial court found that the elections office violated section 101.69, Florida Statutes (1996 Supp.), by failing to maintain an affidavit at the polls for voters to execute that they ha not voted a previously furnished absentee ballot. The procedure used instead was for poll workers to phone the elections office for verification. Only one person testified that she was deprived the right to vote because phone lines were busy. [T.131] The trial court found simple negligence as to this issue [R.720], and notwithstanding this isolated failure, a full and fair expression of the will of the people. [R.727]

⁸<u>Winterfield v. Town of Palm Beach</u>, 455 So.2d 359, 361 (Fla. 1984), decided in the same year and by the same panel as B<u>olden v.</u> Potter, infra.

of an election law is to be regarded as mandatory and when merely directory, or under what circumstances a provision which is mandatory upon the officials charged with the duty of arranging for and conducting elections will be regarded as ground for nullifying an election, when the electors have freely exercised the right of suffrage, and there is no charge that if the law had been strictly complied with the result would have been different. Republics regard the elective franchise as sacred, and the courts should not set aside **an elec**tion because some official, has not complied with the law governing elections, where the voter has done all in his power to cast his ballot honestly _and intellisentlv. unless **fraud** has been perpetrated or corruption or **coerc**ion practiced to a decree to have affected the result.

. <u>A voter</u> may sacrifice his right to have his ballot accepted and counted for wrongful or illegal acts on his part; but he <u>is not to be</u> <u>deprived</u> of his constitutional rishts by the <u>neglect or willful wrong of a public officer</u> <u>charged with the</u> duty of suaalvins him with the means or the <u>opportunity</u> of <u>expressing</u> his <u>choice.</u> [Emphasis supplied,]

<u>Id</u>. 76 So. at 340.

.

Only four months later the supreme court decided **Gilligan** v. **Special** Road and **Bridge District**, 74 Fla. 320, 77 So. 84 (1917). In **Gilligan**, the appellant had contended that the election was void because of certain irregularities in the conduct of the election, in that in some precincts there was no deputy sheriff present (as then required by law), and in one precinct there were only two inspectors, and in some precincts the electors were not properly sworn. The **Gilligan** court stated:

> It is conceded by appellant that <u>under a long</u> <u>line of decisions in this state the doctrine</u> <u>is firmly established that irregularities in</u>

the holding and conduct of popular elections will not invalidate. where they have been free and fair, and the result was not changed by reason of such irregularity. State ex rel. McClenney v. County Commissioners of Baker County, 22 Fla. 29; State ex rel. Bisbee, Jr. V. Board of County Canvassers of Alachua County, 17 Fla. 9; State ex rel Smith v. Burbridge, 24 Fla. 112, 3 South. 869; Carn v. Moore, 76 South. 337. [Emphasis supplied.]

<u>Id.</u> 77 So. at 85.

The appellant had argued, however, that such doctrine applied only to popular elections and not to those whereby a tax was to be authorized. The court found no distinction in the manner of holding general and special elections, and held that its decision governing the latter should apply to the former.

Through the course of this century, the cases have followed this principle except for certain **absentee** ballot cases later rejected in **Boardman y. Esteva, infra.** For example, in <u>McGregor v.</u> **Burnett**,⁹ 105 Fla. 447, 141 So. 599 (1932), Justice **Terrell who** had

McGregor is the first in a series of populist election opinions by Justice Terrell spanning over thirty years, concluding shortly before his death with <u>Stat8 v. Sarasota Courty</u>, 155 So.2d 543 (Fla. 1963), without particular reference to <u>State ex rel.</u> <u>Smith v. Burbridae</u>, <u>supra</u>, or <u>Carn v. Moore</u>, <u>supra</u>, but with adherence to their principles. <u>See, e.g., Town of Baldwin v. State</u>, 40 So.2d 348 (Fla. 1949); <u>State v. Citv of Port State</u>, 47 So.2d 584 (Fla. 1950); <u>Willets v. North Bav Villas&</u>, 60 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1952); <u>State ex rel. Robinson v. North Broward Hospital District</u>, 95 So.2d 434 (Fla. 1957). Only in <u>State v. Sarasota County</u>, <u>supra</u>, where the supreme court found compensating notice for missing advertisements, does Justice Terrell make specific reference to <u>Carn v. Moore</u>. <u>Representative of these cases is his famous Opinion</u> in <u>Ervin v. Collip</u>; 85 So.2d 852, 857 (Fla. 1956) where he stated "since it is the people's Constitution we are interpreting what could be more appropriate to give them an opportunity to impose their views and say what they meant."

The voters' interest as **bedrock** becomes **the** basis for the supreme court's decision in <u>Boardman v. Esteva</u>, <u>supra</u>, which held substantial compliance with absentee voting laws to be the rule.

argued as counsel for the prevailing side in <u>Gillisan</u>, <u>suara</u>, **wrote** for the court:

[I]n cases where fraud or other palpable violations of the election laws is charged prior to an election, any elector is entitled to his relief by injunction or such other appropriate remedy as is available to him under law; but after the <u>election</u> has been <u>held courts generally will consider only such</u> <u>charges of fraud and illegality as will result</u> in a chancre of the result of the election. [Emphasis supplied.]

<u>Id</u>. at 599.

The same year as <u>McGregor</u> the Florida supreme Court decided <u>State ex rel. Hutchins v. Tucker</u>, 106 Fla. 905, 143 So. 754 (1932), where it upheld the constitutionality of the absentee ballot law against the challenge that it violated the protection of the secrecy of the ballot. The absentee ballot law in Florida had first been enacted as Ch. 7370, Laws of Florida (1917), as the United States entered World War I in the same year as the supreme court's decisions in <u>Carn v. Moore</u> and <u>Gilligan v. Special Road and</u> Bridge District, supra.

In **<u>Tucker</u>**, the supreme court applied a substantial compliance test to the absentee ballot law. It held that a canvassing board for an election of an Orange County judge improperly rejected

Justice Terrell's opinion in <u>Wilson v. Revels</u>, <u>infra</u>, upholding an election in spite of polling place irregularities, is relied upon by Justice Adkins in his opinion for the court in <u>Boaroman</u>. There are some absentee ballot cases after <u>State ex rel</u> <u>Hutchins v. Tucker</u>, <u>infra</u>, where the supreme court applied a substantial compliance standard in which Justice Terrell sides with a strict compliance rule; however as discussed below, even the strict compliance rule followed by the court for a time between <u>Hutchins</u> and <u>Boardman</u> had its exceptions.

certain ballots where they were not signed by all the inspectors of the election precinct at which the ballots were deposited by the elector. The court also held that the canvassing board improperly rejected ballots which had slips of paper pasted thereto upon which were written the names of the candidate with the office to be voted and were marked as required by the statute.

Also in 1932, the supreme court decided <u>Joughin v. Parks</u>, 107 Fla. 833, 143 so. 145 (1932). Rejecting a request for an injunction to supervise an election in Hillsborough County, the court explained that the holding and conduct of an election during its progress is a political matter with which courts of equity had nothing to do. <u>Id</u>. at 145.

> [T]he jurisdiction of courts having general equity powers does not include mere election contests of any kind, unless so provided expressly or impliedly by organic or statute laws.

Id. at 146, citing <u>Markert v. Sumter County</u>, 60 Fla. 328, 53 So. 613 (1910).

In 1936, the Florida supreme court issued a series of opinions regarding a contested election for the office of justice of the peace in Volusia County: State ex rel, Titus v. Peacock, 125 Fla. 452, 170 so. 127 (1936); Peacock v. Frederick, 125 Fla. 414, 170 So. 129 (1936); and State ex rel. Titus v. Peacock, 125 Fl. 810, 170 So. 309 (1936). From the opinions it appears that Titus and Beers were candidates that year at the June democratic primary election for nomination of the office of justice of the peace in Volusia County. The canvass of the returns initially showed the candidates to be tied. Under the order of the supreme court, a **recanvass** and a recount were conducted, and Beers was declared the winner. The supreme court stated:

The rule is general that, if ballots had been cast by voters who were, at the time, qualified to cast them, and such voters had at the time done all on their part that the law required the voters to do to make their voting effective, an erroneous or even unlawful handling of the ballots by the election officers charged with such responsibility will not be h ld to have disenfranchised such voters by throwing out their votes on account of erroneous procedure had solely by the election officers, provided the votes were legal votes in their inception, and are still capable of being given proper effect as such. [Emphasis supplied.]

Id, 170 So. at 309.

In <u>Bay Countyv. Stab</u>, 157 Fla. 47, 24 So.2d 714 (1946), the controlling statute provided that the polls would be open from 7:00 a.m. until 7:00 p.m., but the notice for a bond election incorrectly stated that the polls would remain open until sundown. In fact, the polls did remain open past the statutorily prescribed time of 7:00 p.m. Nevertheless, the court sustained the election upon the authority of <u>State ex rel. Smith v. Burbridae</u>, <u>supra</u>, and <u>Carn v. Moore</u>, <u>supra</u>, finding that no one had been deprived of their right of suffrage and that there was no intimation that if the statute had been strictly complied with the result would have been different.

In <u>Wilson v. Revels</u>, 61 So.2d 491 (Fla. 1952) (Terrell, J.), the ballot stubs at a precinct had been signed by elections officials instead of by the voters as required by the statute, and absentee ballots though distinguishable by their markings had been deposited into the same precinct election box. The response of the court was that:

> This court has repeatedly held that mere irregularities in handling absentee or other ballots did not invalidate the ballots on the election. State **ex** rel Titus v. Peacock, **125** Fla. 452, 170 So. 127; Id. 125 Fla. 810, 170 so. 309; **Jolley** v. **Whatley**, Fla. 60 **So.2d** 762. ... the findings of the court and the record discloses that appellant suffered no wrong from the irregularities complained of. Not only that, it shows that the will of the people was effected.

In <u>Boardman v. Esteva</u>, 323 So.2d 259 (Fla. 1975) (Adkins, C.J.), the court confronted a verification problem similar to the present. Central among allegations of various election law violations was that elections officials had lost absentee ballot mailing envelopes involving substantial numbers of votes so that there could be no judicial review of the ballot certificates." At issue was whether the absentee law required absolute strict compliance with all its provisions, as had been held by the district court," or whether substantial compliance is sufficient to give validity to the ballot. The court held substantial compliance to be the rule. Its analysis began:

We first take note that <u>the real parties in</u> <u>nterest here</u>, not in the leaal sense but <u>in</u>

"Section 101.68(2)(c)2, which prohibits challenges to defects apparent upon the face of voter's certificates after the envelope is opened, was not in effect at the time of <u>Boardman</u>. It was enacted two years later as part of Chapter 77-175, Laws of Florida.

"<u>Esteva v. Hindman</u>, 299 So.2d 633 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974).

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